I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER.

This Petition for Review is filed by Stephanie Bell.

Stephanie Bell was the Respondent in the Court of Appeals.

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Stephanie Bell seeks discretionary review of the following decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, terminating review: *In re the Paternity of M.H.* , 2015 WL 72527-1-1 (Div. 1, Sept. 28, 2015) (unpublished) App. 1-8. The Court of Appeals filed its decision on September 28, 2015 and denied Stephanie Bell's Motion for Reconsideration on November 20, 2015 App. 9.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

1. When an Indiana child support order is registered in Washington for enforcement only, does the Washington court's authority to enforce the Indiana child support order for child support arrears terminate on the child's 28th birthday pursuant to Washington's remedial statutes, RCW 4.56.210(2) and 6.17.020(2), or is the Washington Court to apply the laws of Indiana as to the time allowed to collect past due child support arrearages?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This appeal involves the registration of an Indiana order of child support, which Indiana order is registered in Washington for enforcement only and the collection of child support arrears. APP. 10; CP 1. The parties, Stephanie Bell (Petitioner herein) and Juan Sidran Heflin had one child from their relationship, M. H. who was born on May 13, 1985. (For convenience the names of the parties will generally be used in lieu of their designation as either Appellant or Respondent.)

Paternity was established on March 23, 1994, by the Indiana court, Vigo County Circuit Court. At the same time the Indiana Court entered the order of paternity, the Court entered an order of child support which order required Heflin to make regular child support payments to Bell. App. 10 CP 5. Prior to the initiation of this action, Heflin made very few child support payments. Heflin's refusal to pay his Indiana Court ordered child support obligation required Stephanie Bell to pursue collection of the child support arrears in Washington, Heflin's state of residence.

On September 9, 2010, Ms. Bell registered the Indiana child support order **for enforcement only** in the King County Superior Court pursuant to the Uniform Interstate Foreign Support Act

(UIFSA) Chapter 26.21A RCW. Indiana retains the original and continuing jurisdiction over this support Order.

In the King County Superior Court Order in this matter dated November 30, 2010, the Superior Court entered a judgment confirming Heflin's obligation to comply with the child support obligation through the child's 21st birthday under Indiana law. Heflin was required to pay the accrued amount of child support per the 1994 Indiana order, which support obligation continued until the day M.H. turned 21 in accordance with Indiana law in effect at the time of the order.

On February 24, 2011, the King County Superior Court determined that the accrued Indiana past due child support obligation was \$110,709.23, including interest. App. 15-16; CP 12-13. Heflin did not appeal any of the trial court orders. Heflin refused to comply with the outstanding judgments establishing his child support obligations. Heflin/father went so far as to attempt to discharge the obligation in bankruptcy.

Eventually, the parties entered into a Settlement Agreement in which Heflin agreed to pay his past due child support obligation to Ms. Bell, which he acknowledged to be \$128,054.36, as of October 25, 2011. App. 21-24; CP 23-30; CP 23-3. After

Heflin/father defaulted in his settlement agreement payments, Ms. Bell sought to enforce the Indiana child support judgment through a Motion for Wage Withholding. The King County Superior Court entered a Wage Withholding Order on August 8, 2014. The Wage Withholding Order was entered four years after the UIFSA action was filed in Washington and eight years after H.M. turned 21. App. 14, 25-28; CP 17-22. Consistent with the Superior Court's 2010 and 2011 rulings, which were unappealed, Bell argued that Indiana law controls the duration of Heflin's child support obligation and the collection and enforceability of Heflin's child support arrears. In the Wage Withholding Order, the trial court correctly agreed with Bell specifically ruling that, as a matter of law, the Indiana child support order was "not subject to the same limitations" as a Washington child support order and was therefore "fully enforceable in Washington." App. 25 CP 66-69.

Heflin's objection to the Motion for Wage Withholding is based on the argument that the Washington substantive law deprives the Washington courts of jurisdiction to issue a wage withholding order to enforce the Indiana Order of Child Support more than ten (10) years after M.H. turned 28 years of age. Heflin relied on RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2) to invoke the

substantive law of Washington to terminate the collection of child support arrears. The child, M.H., turned 28 on May 13, 2013. However, per Indiana law, Heflin's child support obligations continued until M.H. turned 21, in 2006.

Heflin filed an appeal of the Superior Court Wage Withholding Order alleging, as he had done in the Superior Court, that Washington's statutes, RCW 4.56.210(2) and 6.17.020(2) preclude the enforcement of a judgment based upon an Indiana child support order past the child's 28th birthday per Washington, and not Indiana, law.

On September 28, 2015, the Court of Appeals issued an Opinion in which it reversed the trial court's 2014 ruling granting Ms. Bell's request for a Wage Withholding Order. App. 1

The Court of Appeals erroneously ruled that Indiana law and the UIFSA do not determine the duration of time for the collection of judgments for past due child support arrears arising from an Indiana child support order. Instead, the Court of Appeals adopted and applied the shorter time limit and substantive law of Washington, RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2), to limit the collection of past due child support until the child's 28th birthday. The Court of Appeals misconstrued RCW 26.21A.515 as not

applying to the collection and enforcement of a judgment for child support arrearages in Washington. The ruling of the Court of Appeals allows Heflin to circumvent his court ordered obligation to pay child support arrears, which obligation is valid and enforceable for at minimum 20 years pursuant to the laws of the state of Indiana.¹ The Court of Appeal's Opinion and reasoning is unsupportable.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW.

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts with the Uniform Interstate Foreign Support Act (UIFSA) Codified as RCW 26.21A., Washington Supreme Court Precedent, the Constitutional Rights and Protections Afforded to Stephanie Bell Pursuant to Article IV, Section 1 of the United States Constitution. Collecting and Enforcing Foreign Child Support Orders is of Substantial Public Interest.

1. Introduction.

This is a case in which a valid and fully enforceable Indiana Order for Child Support, registered in Washington for enforcement only, is no longer enforceable in Washington through the improper application of Washington's non-claim statutes/statutes of repose to terminate Bell's right of recovery of unpaid child support.

¹ IC 34-11-2-12

The Opinion of the Court of Appeals terminating Bell's right of recovery for unpaid child support due and owing from an Indiana order of child support (App. 14), results in a myriad of violations of statutory, case, constitutional law and public policy as set forth herein. The Opinion, though not published, will become a resource of legal arguments to spawn unnecessary and confusing claims concerning the application of Washington's non-claims statutes to defeat the enforcement of foreign child support orders for arrears.

Per the laws of the State of Indiana, the originating and controlling state, Stephanie Bell has twenty (20) years to collect the judgment.² Indiana Code (IC) 34-11-2-12, its statute of limitations and repose, provides:

Every judgment and decree of any court of record of the United States, of Indiana, or of any other state shall be considered satisfied after the expiration of twenty (20) years.

The Court of Appeals has ruled that the collection of unpaid child support cannot take place after the child's 28th birthday. In addition to the foregoing Indiana statute of limitations, Indiana has a statute that tolls the state of limitations when the defendant is

² IC 34-11-2-10 requires an action to enforce a child support obligation to be commenced not later than 10 years after the child's 18th birthday. M.H. turned 18 in 2003. This action was commenced in 2010, or 7 years after her 18th birthday.

outside of the state of Indiana. IC 34-11-4-1. The judgment in Washington, based upon the Indiana Order of Child Support, is approximately five years old and fully enforceable pursuant to Indiana law.

2. The Opinion of the Court of Appeals is in Conflict with Washington's UIFSA, RCW 26.21A.500 et. seq. and the Ruling of the Washington Supreme Court *In re Schneider*, 173 Wn.2d 353, (Washington 2011)

This is a case of first impression in Washington regarding applying Washington law, and not the law of the foreign jurisdiction to determine the time limits for the enforcement of a foreign child support judgment for arrears. The Court of Appeals has incorrectly ruled that the time allowed to collect judgments for unpaid child support arising from an Indiana Order of child support, filed for enforcement only in Washington pursuant to RCW 26.21A.500, et. seq., is not collectible per Washington's statutes of non-suit/repose. In the Court of Appeals Opinion, page 4, the Court stated: "*But contrary to Bell's apparent belief, the law of the issuing state does not govern how long a child support order can be enforced in the registering state.*" App. 5. The Court of Appeals further improperly held, concerning the judgment based upon an Indiana Order of Child Support, that "*Under Washington's remedial*

law, including RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2), the trial court's authority to enforce a child support order expires on the child's twenty-eighth birthday.” App. 1.

The Court of Appeals correctly notes that the Washington State Legislature adopted 2015 amendments to Chapter 26.21A RCW which became effective July 1, 2015, but this amendment does not affect the issue in this appeal.

It is worth quoting the Final Senate Bill Report, ESSB 5498:

Federal laws require all states to apply uniform child support jurisdictional standards in a national model law, the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act (UIFSA), to qualify for federal matching funds. Many child support enforcement cases involve parents and children living in different states. UIFSA's standards prevent interstate legal conflicts and make child support enforcement administratively efficient and less expensive for the DSHS CSE program. In addition to enforcing child support obligations, ***the UIFSA law standardizes the jurisdiction and substantive requirements for establishing, enforcing, or modifying child support court orders so that only one state at a time has jurisdiction. The law prevents competing and conflicting court orders in multiple states.*** Under UIFSA the state courts that do not have jurisdiction over the child support case recognize and refrain from taking action on the case. ***The law extends the requirement that states must give full faith and credit to a lawful court order from another state.*** (emphasis added).

The purpose of the UIFSA is to avoid situations like the one existing in this case – different states, a foreign child support order, and a parent seeking to entirely avoid their child support obligations using his state’s laws. In her Response to the Court of Appeals, Ms. Bell quoted the following from the Washington Supreme Court holding *In re Schnieder*, 173 Wn.2d 353, 358-359, 268 P.3d 215 (2011), App. 40-41, pages 8-9 thereto:

The UIFSA was developed in response to federal legislation impacting state child support enforcement laws. Prior to the development of the UIFSA, when parties in a child support action lived in different states, each state could issue its own child support orders. This potential for competing child support orders, with varying terms and duration depending on the issuing jurisdiction, resulted in a proliferation of litigation. ***The UIFSA addressed this “chaos” by establishing a “one-order” system for child support orders by providing that one state would have continuing exclusive jurisdiction over the other.*** The UIFSA enforces the one-order system in a variety of ways, including registration of out-of-state child support orders for either enforcement, modification, or both. (citations omitted; emphasis added.)

This conclusion and Opinion of the Court of Appeals is contradicted by the Washington Supreme Court decision *In re Schneider*, 173 Wn.2d at 355 (citing RCW 26.21A.515(1)(a)) that:

The UIFSA provides that the duration of child support is governed by the laws of the original forum state.

The Opinion is further contradicted by RCW

26.21A.515(1)(a), (b), and (c) that **Indiana law – not** Washington law - governs the “nature, extent, amount and duration of current payments,” as well as the “computation and payment of arrearages and accrual of interest, and the “existence and satisfaction of other obligations,” under the registered support order. RCW

26.21A.515(1)(a), (b), (c). There can be no dispute that this case involves the “**computation and payment of arrearages and accrual of interest,**” which is directed by statute to be governed by Indiana law. RCW 26.21A.515(1)(b).

The Court of Appeals completely (and impermissibly) ignored RCW 26.21A.515(4), which further contradicts its Opinion:

(4) After a tribunal of this or another state determines which is the controlling order and issues an order consolidating arrears, if any, **a tribunal of this state shall prospectively apply the law of the state issuing the registered controlling order, including its law on interest on arrears, on current and future support, and on consolidated arrears. (emphasis added.)**

The Court of Appeals Opinion removes from enforcement under RCW 26.21A.500 et. seq. the collection of accrued child support arrearages based on a foreign child support order. There are no grounds or rational arguments to only apply RCW

26.21A.500, et. seq. to current support obligations, but not past due support obligations. This, however, is exactly what the Court of Appeals has done with its decision. The Opinion has created an exception for the enforcement of a past due child support obligation never before recognized in Washington for a foreign child support order. This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

3. Washington's Conflicts of Laws Precludes Applying RCW 4.56.210(2) and 6.17.020(2) as the Substantive Law of the Case.

RCW 4.56.210(2) and 6.17.020(2) are non-claim or statutes of repose and are part of the substantive law of Washington.

Under the well established laws of the State of Washington set forth herein, the substantive law of Indiana controls the duration for the collection of an unpaid child support obligation as well as the time allowed to enforce any judgment for unpaid child support arising from an Indiana order of child support.

"A statute of repose terminates a right of after a specific time, even if the injury has not yet occurred." (Citations omitted.) *Rice v. Dow Chemical Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 205, 875 P.2d 1213 (1994). *See also Williams v. State*, 76 Wn. App 237, 245, 885 P.2d 845 (1994) (comparing issues of the statute of limitations with the non-

claim statutes). Because RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2) toll the time to enforce a Washington child support order, they are statutes that terminate a right after a specific time and are statutes of repose. "The general authority is that statutes of repose are to be treated not as statutes of limitation, but as part of the body of a state's *substantive law* in making choice-of-law determinations. *Rice*, supra, at 212 (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

Given that RCW 4.56.010(2) and 6.17.020(2) constitute substantive law in Washington, the question becomes: Does Washington's substantive law or Indiana substantive law apply regarding the limitations of time to collect unpaid child support?

As this Washington Supreme Court has ruled, the specific issue of "limitation periods [is] not subject to conflict of laws methodology" since Washington adopted the Uniform Conflict of Laws-Limitation Act (UCLLA) in 1983, codified as RCW 4.18.020. *Rice*, 124 Wash.2d at 210-11. Rather, UCLLA's "borrowing statute" requires the court first to determine which state's substantive law applies under Washington's choice-of-law rules, and then to apply the statute of limitation of the "state whose law governs other substantive issues inherent in the claim." *Rice*, 124 Wash.2d at

211, 875 P.2d 1213 (quoting Unif. Conflict of Law-Limitations Act § 2 cmt., 12 U.L.A. 63 (Supp.1994)); RCW 4.18.020 (1)(b).

The Court of Appeals has made a significant error of law by applying the substantive law of Washington to foreign child support orders and the judgments therefrom. To harmonize the RCW 26.21A.500, et. seq. with RCW 4.56.210(2) and 6.17.020(2), the latter must strictly be applied to domestic child support judgments in which Washington retains exclusive jurisdiction. This issue can and should be resolved by the Supreme Court. Otherwise, RCW 26.21A.515, *In Re Schneider* and 4.18.020 are in direct and irreconcilable conflict. This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

4. The Opinion Violates the United States Constitutions Full Faith and Credit Clause and RCW 4.18.020(1) Conflicts of Laws.

In its Opinion, App. 1, the Court of Appeals refused to consider the citation of Stephanie Bell to the United States Constitutions Full Faith and Credit clause. The Opinion alleges that the claim was not properly raised. In truth and fact, the Full Faith and Credit Clause was raised and argued, with direct citation to the Article IV, Section 1 of the United States Constitution Full Faith and Credit Clause, in the Response of Stephanie Bell (App. 41) and as

set forth in the decision of *In Re: Schneider*, supra, also argued in the Response. The Court of Appeals Opinion improperly ignored and failed to address this important Constitutional provision that requires the Washington Court to enforce the Indiana order of child support and its arrears.³

The United States Constitution's Full Faith and Credit Clause, Article IV, Section 1. is partially codified in RCW 4.18.020(1) which provides in pertinent part:

Conflict of laws—Limitation periods:

(1) Except as provided by RCW 4.18.040, if a claim substantively based:

(a) Upon the law of other state, the limitation period of that state applies: (emphasis added.)

As this Washington Supreme Court has ruled, the specific issue of "limitation periods [is] not subject to conflict of laws methodology" since Washington adopted the Uniform Conflict of Laws-Limitation Act (UCLLA) in 1983, codified as RCW 4.18.020. *Rice*, 124 Wash.2d at 210-11. Rather, UCLLA's "borrowing statute" requires the court first to determine which state's substantive law applies under Washington's choice-of-law rules, and then to apply the statute of limitation of the "state whose law governs other

³ Article IV, Section 1 of the United States Constitution provides in, in relevant part "Full faith and credit shall be given in each state to the public acts, records, and judicial proceedings of every other state."

substantive issues inherent in the claim." *Rice*, 124 Wash.2d at 211, 875 P.2d 1213 (quoting Unif. Conflict of Law-Limitations Act § 2 cmt., 12 U.L.A. 63 (Supp.1994)); RCW 4.18.020(1)(b).

The Opinion of the Court of Appeals holding that RCW 4.56.210(2) prevents collection of foreign child support orders after the child's 28th birthday directly contradicts the substantive provisions of RCW 4.18.020(1) and RCW 26.21A.515. The Opinion renders judgments for child support arrears arising in a sister state, some of which sister states have no statute of limitations to enforce or collect same, meaningless in Washington after the child's 28th birthday. Contrary to public policy, Washington becomes the preferred forum to escape a child support obligation.

Stephanie Bell cited *TCAP Corp. v. Gervin*, 163 Wn.2d 645 (2008) for the authority that if the Indiana order of child support is enforceable in Indiana it must be enforceable in Washington. In the Opinion, App. 39-40, The Court of Appeals held "RCW 6.17.020(7) prohibits a registered foreign judgment from extending beyond the lifetime of the original judgment. Therefore, a registered foreign judgment expires concomitantly with the expiration of the underlying judgment, if not before the underlying judgment." App. 6-7. The Court of Appeals Opinion makes no sense since, per

Indiana law, the child support arrearages are fully enforceable against Heflin to this day. The Opinion improperly regulates the enforcement of all judgments, including the Indiana order of child support, to the same status as a Washington action and judgment contrary to the holding in *TCAP*, supra.

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) (3) & (4).

5. It is of Significant Public Interest to Protect and Enforce Court Ordered Foreign Child Support Obligations and to Firmly Establish that RCW 26.21A.500, et. seq. and the Law of the State Retaining Jurisdiction, and not RCW 4.56.210(2) and 6.17.020(2), Control the Duration of Time Allowed for the Enforcement of Judgments for Child Support.

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