SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 11, 2016, 8:12 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 92620-4

RECEIVED BY F-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 72527-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In Re: the paternity of M.H.:

STEPHANIE BELL,

Petitioner, (Respondent in Court of Appeals) and

JUAN SIDRAN HEFLIN,

Respondent. (Appellant in Court of Appeals)

AMENDED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Helmut Kah, Attorney at Law WSBA # 18541 16818 140th Ave NE Woodinville, WA 98072-9001 Phone:

Cell:

425-949-8357

206-234-7798

helmutkahlaw@outlook.com

Attorney for Respondent, Juan Sidran Heflin

Identity of Respondent:

Juan Sidran Heflin, respondent in the Court of appeals, opposes the petitioner's Petition for Review.

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

None of the criteria for acceptance of review are satisfied by Stephanie Bell's petition.

Review should be denied.

The Court of Appeals should be affirmed.

The parties are referred to by their first names in this Answer. No disrespect is intended.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Stephanie commenced proceedings in this case for the registration, determination of arrears, and collection of an Indiana Order of Child Support, by filing a CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT

TANSMITTAL #1 – INITIAL REQUEST (sic) in King County Superior Court on September 9, 2010, under cause number 10-3-06637-7 KNT.

(CP 1 – 4). She separately filed a stand-alone copy of the underlying Indiana ORDER of child support under the same case number. (CP 5)

Juan contested registration of the Indiana Order.

The parties' child M.H. was born on May 13, 1985. (CP 2 at section VI. Dependent Children; CP 4)

M.H.'s 18th birthday was on May 13, 2003. The child's 21st birthday was May 13, 2006.

M.H.'s 28th birthday was May 13, 2013. This date is significant in this matter because under Washington law the remedies for enforcement and collection of child support arrears expire after the 10th year following the youngest child's 18th birthday. RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2).

Order Entered March 23, 1994, in the state of Indiana:

The underlying child support obligation in this case arises from an Order of Child Support entered March 23, 1994 in Vigo Circuit Court,

Juvenile Division, State of Indiana. (CP 1-5), which provides, among other things, that:

"the respondent is the father of [M.H.] born May 13, 1985 in Swedish Hospital, Seattle. Washington * * * to the petitioner and respondent herein."

It further provides that Juan shall

"pay into the office of the Clerk of this Court the sum of \$77.00 a week, each and every week for the support of the minor child, commencing on April 1, 1994 and each and every week thereafter until further Order of the Court. The Court finds that 7 weeks have elapsed since the filing date of the petition herein and therefore makes a back support order in the amount of \$539.00 which should be paid into the Office of the Clerk by the respondent within the next 12 months. * * * ."

(CP 4)

In Stephanie's proceedings for registration, determination of arrears, and enforcement in Washington of the Indiana order, the trial court entered four orders in 2010/2011, three on the merits and the fourth for attorney fees and costs. The order at issue on this appeal is the fifth order, a Wage Withholding Order entered August 28, 2014. (CP 72 – 75)

First Order Entered in Washington:

The first order entered October 28, 2010, is titled ORDER ON RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF CHILD SUPPORT ORDER, REQUEST FOR HEARING AND REQUEST TO DISMISS WITH PREJUDICE.

(CP 6 – 7) and states in relevant part that:

"This reserves the issue as to the amount of the obligation.

"NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY,

"ORDERED: * * * In accordance with RCW 26.21A.530(3), the Order of Support issued by the Indiana Court is hereby confirmed by this Court. Mother is Awarded \$1,500.00 in Attorneys Fees. The issue of additional petitioner's costs and attorneys' fees is reserved for determination by this Court at a later date.

"****

"Without credit, as may be determined by this court at a later date, the Court finds \$37,191 in support was to be paid until the child's 18th birthday."

(CP 6 - 7)

Second Order Entered in Washington:

The second order was entered December 22, 2010, titled ORDER ON MOTION FOR REVISION (CP 10 – 11). It states that Juan's obligation under the Indiana order continued until M.H.'s 21st birthday, May 13, 2006. This revision order makes no determination of the amount of support that was to be paid, the payments made, other credits allowed, or other charges, during that period, or the final balance owed, if any:

"The Order of this Court entered on October 28, 2010 is hereby revised to include the requirement that the respondent is obligated to pay child support including that period of time defined as the child's 18th to 21st birthday. Any other issues including visitation credits, attorneys' fees and credits for child support payments are currently pending before this court and are not part of this Order on motion for revision."

(CP 10 - 11)

Third Order Entered in Washington:

The third order was entered on February 24, 2011, titled ORDER CONFIRMING AMOUNT OF SUPPORT OBLIGATION. (CP 12 – 13) It states without explanation or findings that the Indiana Order of Support is confirmed in the sum of \$110,709.23:

"NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY:

"ORDERED: the Indiana Order of Support, in the sum of \$110,709.23*, is hereby confirmed as registered by this Court pursuant to this Court's Order of October 28, 2010 and RCW 26.21A.500. et. Seq. per the laws of Indiana, the obligation shall bear interest at the rate of 18% interest per annum. * * *"

*Credit is given to the father for wire transfers of \$1,300 and \$1,350 plus interest of \$2,350 (59 months at 1.5% per year. This reduces his total obligation to \$110,709.23 which includes interest.." (sic)

Fourth Order Entered in Washington:

The fourth order entered April 11, 2011 awards Stephanie \$12,500 attorney fees and \$306.64 costs at 12% interest per annum. (CP 14 - 16)

The August 28, 2014, Wage Withholding Order:

The case before the Court arises from the trial court's entry of a WAGE WITHHOLDING ORDER on August 28, 2014, which contains the following findings/conclusions:

"The court finds that as a matter of law, the Indiana Order of Child-Support is not subject to the same limitations of the Washington Order of Child Support and that the Indiana Order of Child Support is fully enforceable in Washington. Furthermore, the court finds that the Juan Heflin is more than (15) days late and the payment of his child support obligation in the principal sum of \$117,290.92 as of April 1, 2013 with interest thereon at the daily rate of \$57.84 from April 1, 2013."

Juan has paid in excess of \$70,000 through cashier's checks and wage withholding since entry of the February 2011 order. Yet Stephanie only credits Juan for payments of \$27,300. (CP 26).

All enforcement and collection remedies expired and became unavailable per RCW 4.56.210(2) on May 13, 2013.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

The Decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act (UIFSA), Chapter 26.21A RCW, Washington Supreme Court Precedent, or the Constitutional Rights and Protections Afforded to Stephanie Bell Pursuant to Article IV, Section 1 of the United States Constitution.

Stephanie argues that Juan is asserting a statute of limitations defense, whereas, to the contrary, Juan is asserting the defense that the court's authority and jurisdiction to enforce the Indiana Order of Child Support expired on May 13, 2013, at the end of the 10th year after the child M.H's 18th birthday and is, therefore, barred pursuant to RCW 4.56.210(2).

Stephanie confuses the issue as one involving a statute of

limitations, while Juan's position is that the remedies for enforcement expired at the end of the 10th year following the child's 18th birthday.

RCW 4.56.210 provides:

- "(1) Except as provided in subsections (2) and (3) of this section, after the expiration of ten years from the date of the entry of any judgment theretofore or hereafter rendered in this state, it shall cease to be a lien or charge against the estate or person of the judgment debtor. No suit, action or other proceeding shall ever be had on any judgment rendered in this state by which the lien shall be extended or continued in force for any greater or longer period than ten years."
- "(2) An underlying judgment or judgment lien entered after the effective date of this act for accrued child support shall continue in force for ten years after the eighteenth birthday of the youngest child named in the order for whom support is ordered. * * * ."

Stephanie relies on RCW 26.21A.515 which provides as follows regarding Choice of law:

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (4) of this section, the law of the issuing state governs:
 - (a) The nature, extent, amount, and <u>duration</u> of current payments under a registered support order;
 - (b) The computation and payment of arrearages and accrual of interest on the arrearages under the registered support order; and
 - (c) The existence and satisfaction of other obligations under the registered support order.

- (2) In a proceeding for arrears under a registered support order, the statute of limitation of this state or of the issuing state, whichever is longer, applies.
- (3) A responding tribunal of this state shall apply the procedures and remedies of this state to enforce current support and collect arrears and interest due on a support order of another state registered in this state.
- (4) After a tribunal of this or another state determines which is the controlling order and issues an order consolidating arrears, if any, a tribunal of this state shall prospectively apply the law of the state issuing the registered controlling order, including its law on interest on arrears, on current and future support, and on consolidated arrears.

[Bold emphasis in original at CP 21]

Under RCW 4.56.210(2) the superior court's jurisdiction to enforce the child support arrearage expired 10 years after M.H.'s 18th birthday. RCW 4.56.210 is not a statute of limitations. It terminates the power to enforce the expired judgment. The case law construing RCW 4.56.210 makes this perfectly clear. This statute establishes the duration of the lien and the time of its expiration. The time limit is jurisdictional. There can be no enforcement or collection action taken after the judgment has terminated per this statute. *Hazel v. Van Beek*, 135 Wn.2d 45, 954 P.2d 1301 (1998); *Grub v Fogle's Garage*, 5 Wn.App. 840, 491 P.2d 258 (1971).

The issue is not one of conflicting statutes of limitation. It bears noting that the limitations period under both Indiana law and Washington law expired on May 13, 2013.

Indiana's Statute of Limitations on Child Support:

Indiana's statute of limitations on child support is the same as

Washington's:

Indiana Statues
Title 34. Civil Law and Procedure
Article 11. Limitation of Actions
Chapter 2: Specific Statutes of Limitation

§ 34-11-2-10. Enforcement of Child Support Obligations:

An action to enforce a child support obligation must be commenced within not later than ten (10) years after:

- (1) the eighteenth birthday of the child; or
- (2) the emancipation of the child;

whichever occurs first

Washington's Statute of Limitations on Child Support:

Washington's statute of limitations on child support provides:

RCW 4.16.020 Actions to be commenced within ten years — Exception.

The period prescribed for the commencement of actions shall be as follows:

Within ten years:

(3) Of the eighteenth birthday of the youngest child named in the order for whom support is ordered for an action to collect past due child support that has accrued under an order entered after July 23, 1989, by any of the above-named courts or that has accrued under an administrative order as defined in RCW 74.20A.020(6), which is issued after July 23, 1989.

RCW 4.56.210 is not a statute of limitations. It establishes the duration of the lien and the time of its expiration. The time limit is jurisdictional. There can be no enforcement or collection action taken after the judgment has been terminated per this statute.

RCW 4.56.210(2) establishes that the remedy terminates, expires, and is available for no longer than 10 years after the 18th birthday of the youngest child name in the Order of Child Support:

In *Grub v. Fogle's Garage, Inc.*, 5 Wn.App. 840, 491 P.2d 258 (1971), the court held that RCW 4.56.210 is not merely a statute of limitations. Rather, it is a statute that takes away the right of action and eliminates all authority to enforce the judgment against the estate or person of the judgment debtor.

In *Hazel v. Van Beek*, 135 Wn.2d 45, 60 - 61, 954 P.2d 1301 (1998), the Washington Supreme Court concurred with the Court of Appeals, Div. 3, decision the *Grub v Fogle's Garage, Inc.*, supra, stating:

A statute creating a lien right for a definite length of time only, is something that is in addition to the cause of action or substantive right in question and is not a statute of limitations, because it does not exist outside of the period during which it is conferred.

The lien here in question may not be invoked outside the period during which it is conferred by statute. This is not because of a statute of limitations that would be overcome by Rem. Rev. Stat., § 167, but because outside the terms of the statute creating the lien, no lien exists."

The Opinion of the Court of Appeals is not in Conflict with Washington's UIFSA, RCW 26.21A.500 et. seq. or the Ruling of the Washington Supreme Court in *In re Schneider*, 173 Wn.2d 353 (Washington 2011)

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is not in conflict with In re Schneider, 173 Wn.2d 353, 358-359, 268 P.3d 215 (2011). The Schneider decision does not address the issue that was before the Court of Appeals in this case. Schneider addressed the question whether the Washington court had authority to modify the duration of current support under a Nebraska order of child support by imposing a post-secondary support obligation which is not available under Nebraska law. Schneider held that the imposition of the post-secondary support obligation is a durational change in the father's obligation to pay current child support and, since it is not available under Nebraska law, the Washington court lacked authority to modify the Nebraska order of child support in that manner..

The Court of Appeals decision does not state that 26.21A.515(4) only applies to current child support obligations but not past-due support obligations. Juan's current support obligation ended at the latest on M.H.'s

21st birthday which was May 13, 2006. Collection of past due support has actually continued until after the Court of Appeals decision was filed on September 28, 2015.

Washington's Conflicts of Laws Does Not Preclude Applying RCW 4.56.210(2) and 6.17.020(2) as the controlling law in this case.

The case of *Rice v. Dow Chemical Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 205, 875 P.2d 1213 (1994) is inapplicable to the issues in this matter. The *Rice* decision is a product liability tort case. Contrary to Stephanie's argument, the *Rice* case expressly holds as follows:

"We hold that statutes of repose do not fall under the statute of limitations bowworing statute, RCW 4.18.020 * * * ." (*Rice*, 124 Wnd.2d at 212)

The Court of Appeals' decision does not violate the United States Constitutions Full Faith and Credit Clause.

Stephanie's argument that application of the remedy expiration and limitation provisions of RCW 4.56.210 and 6.17.020 violates federal constitutional provisions for full faith and credit is illogical and unsupported by citation to relevant authority and thus should be disregarded by this court. The courts of Washington have given the Indiana Child Support Order the full faith and credit to which it is entitled.

In the Indiana case of *Johnson v. Johnson*, 849 N.E.2d 1176, 1178 (Ind.App. 2006), the Indiana appellate court discusses full faith and credit.

The key issue in *Johnson* is whether a domesticated Washington judgment for child support arrears should bear interest at Washington's or Indiana's statutory rate of interest. The court explained that full faith and credit does not require one state to apply another state's laws in violation of its own legitimate public policy:

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